Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-31-2018

Eller v. Idaho State Police Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45698

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This public employee whistleblower case arises from a series of retaliatory adverse actions the Idaho State Police (ISP) took against its employee, Detective Brandon Eller (Eller), as a result of his protected activity under Idaho law. Specifically, ISP retaliated against Eller for testifying against a Payette County police officer at that officer's preliminary hearing, and for later objecting to ISP's directive requiring members of the Crash Reconstruction Unit (CRU) to destroy all but the final versions of their reconstruction reports. A Jury found in Eller's favor, and Eller now appeals because the District Court erred in making two rulings that precluded Eller from recovering the entirety of the damages awarded by the Jury.

B. Statement of the Case

On January 6, 2015 Eller filed his Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial wherein he alleged ISP unlawfully retaliated against him in violation of Idaho Code section 6-2101 *et seq.*, the Idaho Protection of Public Employee Act (Whistleblower Act). *See* Clerk's Record ("R."), pp. 20-26. Eller later filed an Amended Complaint

and line numbers where appropriate: e.g., "Tr. 08.17.17, p. _, L. _."

¹ <u>Citations to the Clerk's Record</u> ("R.") will be followed by the page numbers: *e.g.*, "R., p. _." <u>Citations to the Transcripts</u> ("Tr."). The court reporters produced four transcripts identified as follows: Tr.; Tr. 06.30.16; Tr. 12.05.16; and Tr. 08.17.17. These will be followed by the page numbers,

<u>Citations to the Exhibits</u> ("Ex.") will be designated as "Pltf. Ex." for Plaintiff's Exhibits, "Def. Ex." for Defendant's Exhibits, and "Ct. Ex." for Court's Exhibits followed by the Exhibit number and/or bates or page numbers where appropriate: *e.g.*, "Pltf. Ex. _, _".

and Demand for Jury Trial adding allegations that ISP subjected him to additional retaliatory adverse actions after the filing of his original Complaint. R., pp. 372-381. Eller also added a second cause of action of negligent infliction of emotional distress. R., pp. 380-81. ISP filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment* seeking dismissal of Eller's claims, which was denied by the District Court on August 2, 2017. R., pp. 571-98, 1592-610. The case was tried to a Jury in August 2017, and below is a summary of pertinent facts presented during trial.

Eller became an ISP patrol trooper in 1997, and in late 2004 was appointed as one of the founding members of the newly-formed ISP Collision Reconstruction Unit. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 338-41. In 2007, Eller became a POST-certified² instructor for crash investigation and started doing trainings and presentations on crash investigation and reconstruction for POST, ISP, and other agencies. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 209-10, 344-46, 420-22; Pltf. Ex. 23. Eller consistently taught POST's introduction to crash investigation course and ISP's basic and advanced crash investigation trainings. Tr., p. 845; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 209-10, 421-22. Eller was widely recognized in the field as a "phenomenal reconstructionist" and the trainings he provided were regarded as the "very best instruction possible." Tr., p. 845, L. 6-9; Tr. 08.17.17, p. 344; Pltf. Ex. 16, p.000495; Pltf. Ex. 27.

_

² This meant he was certified by the Police Officer Standards and Training (POST) to instruct other law enforcement officers or trainees.

For many years, one of Eller's primary career goals was to become the ISP statewide Reconstruction Program Manager. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 368. As was documented by ISP, Eller was on track to accomplish this goal. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 369; Pltf. Ex. 19, p. 000517. For example, in 2008, he was assigned to be the District 3 liaison for the Inter-Agency Crash Team, and for portions of 2011 and 2013, Eller filled in as the interim Statewide Program Manager. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 378-79, 514-15. Eller served as a fulltime reconstructionist in the CRU for 9 years and was the longest-serving member of the CRU. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 382. In short, his future in leading crash reconstruction at ISP was bright. However, in October 2011, a fatal car crash involving a Payette County deputy would end up significantly changing the course of Eller's career at ISP.

1. The Sloan Crash and Investigation

On October 18, 2011, a Payette County Sheriff Deputy, Scott Sloan, was involved in a car crash with civilian Barry Johnson. Tr., pp. 546, 656; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 20-22. In response to a 911 call, Deputy Sloan was traveling above the speed limit on a two-lane rural highway, where he came upon Johnson's jeep. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 21, 111. ISP Officers estimated that Deputy Sloan was driving at approximately 114-115 miles per hour just prior to the crash. Tr., pp. 737, 1021; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 354-55. Deputy Sloan started to pass Johnson on the left when Johnson turned into

his driveway, causing Sloan to crash into the jeep. Johnson died as a result of the crash. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 699, 716.

ISP assigned Trooper Justin Klitch to investigate the crash and assigned Crash Reconstructionist Corporal Quinn Carmack to perform the crash reconstruction. Tr., pp. 701, 729; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 13-14. As a part of the investigation, it was discovered that Johnson had a range of Blood Alcohol Concentration (BAC) results at the time of the crash, some of which were above the legal limit. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 35-36, 47. While Carmack did not believe that Johnson's BAC was a causal factor in the crash, Klitch disagreed and believed that alcohol had to be the cause of the crash. Tr., p. 756; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 35-37.

Eller, who was the lead reconstructionist in District 3, was assigned to assist Klitch in interviewing Deputy Sloan on or about November 30, 2011. Tr., p. 745; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 350-51. Based on this interview and other information Eller learned about the crash, Eller supported Carmack's conclusion that Johnson's BAC was *not* a causal factor in the crash; rather both Carmack and Eller believed that Sloan had been driving too fast and should not have attempted to pass the jeep (*i.e.*, was operating his vehicle in an unsafe or reckless manner). Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 34-37, 348, 358-60, 492, 506; Pltf. Ex. 1.

After Carmack's reconstruction report was peer reviewed by two other reconstructionists, it was sent for final approval by the CRU Statewide Coordinator,

APPELLANT ELLER'S OPENING BRIEF - 4

Specialist Fred Rice. The final report approved by Rice identified the following as causational factors: that Sloan was driving too fast, in an "unsafe manner" and in "reckless disregard for the safety of others." Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 14-16, 19-20, 34-35; Pltf. Ex. 1.

Just prior to the final report approval, District 3's top commanders, Captain Steve Richardson and Lieutenant Sheldon Kelley, called Eller into a meeting. Believing that Eller could or would influence Carmack's conclusions, the commanders tried to get Eller to agree that alcohol was a cause of the crash and that it was Johnson who had made an unsafe left turn. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 355, 359-60. Eller refused to capitulate and the contentious meeting ended. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 246-47.

The same day that Carmack's report was approved, Cpt. Richardson and Lt. Kelley called Carmack and Rice into a meeting and had a "heated" discussion, wherein they made it clear that they believed that Johnson's BAC caused the crash. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 24-25, 37-39, 50-51. Lt. Kelley was so angry about the situation that he was yelling, and Carmack felt pressured to change his final report despite the fact that he believed he could not honestly testify that alcohol was a cause of the crash. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 37-39, 50-51. Carmack made the mandated changes which were ultimately approved by Rice. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 40-42, 51-52; Pltf. Ex. 130. The difference between the revised report and the original report are telling:

APPELLANT ELLER'S OPENING BRIEF - 5

ORIGINAL FINAL REPORT REVISED FINAL REPOR Causational Factors Conclusions The author of this report reserves the right to amend these findings and conclusions due Officer was traveling an average of 115 miles per hour from Custer Road to any change of information contained in this investigation or additional discovered information and or evidence to the beginning of the braking marks of the Ford. Officer was traveling a minimum of 101 miles per hour when he began to · Officer was operating an authorized emergency vehicle at an approximate speed of 115 miles per hour on a posted 55 mile per hour rural highway while attempting to pass another vehicle Officer made an unsafe pass Officer was traveling a minimum of 101 miles per hour when he began to Officer was operating an authorized emergency vehicle in an unsafe manner by driving without due regard for the safety of all person and reckless disregard for the safety of others. Jeep Driver turned left in front of an emergency vehicle, which had its emergency lights and siren activated Jeep Driver had a femoral artery blood alcohol level of .080.

R., p. 1641; Tr. 08.17.17 pp. 43-48; Pltf. Ex. 1, p. 9, Pltf. Ex. 130, p. Eller000195;.

In short, by late 2011/early 2012, the opinions about this crash were clearly delineated within ISP:

- The crash reconstructionists, including Eller, Carmack, and Rice, believed that Sloan acted recklessly, unsafely, and caused the crash that killed Johnson.
- Cpt. Richardson, Lt. Kelley and Klitch believed that, because Johnson had a BAC above the legal limit, alcohol must have been a cause of the crash.

2. The Sloan Preliminary Hearing and ISP's Immediate Retaliation

After conducting his investigation, Gem County Prosecutor Richard Linville charged Deputy Sloan with felony vehicular manslaughter. Tr., p. 700; Pltf. Ex. 99, p. KELLEY-OPS000332. A preliminary hearing was held on April 13, 2012 and Prosecutor Linville called both Carmack and Eller to testify at the hearing. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 11, 58-59, 346. Both reconstructionists testified that Johnson's BAC level was not a cause of the crash and that Deputy Sloan was driving recklessly and in an unsafe manner. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 58-59, 348, 505-06. Additionally, both Eller

and Carmack testified that Carmack had been required by ISP commanders to change the original crash reconstruction report and issue a revised, second report. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 60, 350. On the other hand, the defense called Klitch to testify. He disagreed with the other reconstructionists' testimony and was definitive in his opinion that alcohol caused the crash because Johnson had a BAC level above the legal limit. Tr., p. 756.

Klitch had asked his supervisor, Sergeant Ketchum, to attend the preliminary hearing. During the hearing, Ketchum sent text messages to Lt. Kelley, who immediately shared the text messages with other commanders including Cpt. Richardson. One of the text messages indicated that Carmack was "throwing you guys under the bus on the stand." Tr., p. 517, L. 5-14, pp. 525, 730; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 167, 771-72. ISP's response to Carmack's and Eller's testimony was immediate. During a meeting the same day, ISP command staff gathered in Major Kevin Hudgens' office to discuss the preliminary hearing. Tr., p. 519; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 770-72. Rice was summoned into the meeting where he heard a Major say that Carmack and Eller would "be lucky to have their jobs patrolling nights and weekends," or words to that effect. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 169, L. 20-25, pp. 770, 773, L. 1-3. Lieutenant Colonel Kedrick Wills expressed his dismay at Carmack's and Eller's testimony, stating: "I cannot believe that the Idaho State Police is going to send a deputy to

prison." Tr. 08.17.17, p. 773, L. 4-6. Soon thereafter, Eller learned that Ketchum was telling others that Eller lied on the witness stand. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 366, 503.

The retaliatory motives immediately affected ISP's perception and evaluation of Eller. For example, Eller's 2011 performance review, given to him just prior to Sloan's preliminary hearing, provided an overall rating of "significant accomplishment" (the highest rating possible). Pltf. Ex. 16. Eller also received a very prestigious award (the Samson award) for being the top patrol officer in District 3 for the year. Tr., pp. 646-47; Tr. 08.17.17, p. 343. In contrast, when Eller was evaluated in April 2012 (shortly after the preliminary hearing), Eller's performance rating was downgraded a level and he was accused of causing "dissention within the Region 3 Patrol ranks." Pltf. Ex. 17, p. RFP001541. He was also instructed to "soften[] his opinions on confrontational matters and be[] more open to feedback." Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 360-62; Pltf. Ex. 17, p. RFP0001540. Eller attributed these negative statements to the testimony he gave during the preliminary hearing. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 361-62, 365. This negative evaluation affected Eller's eligibility for pay raises. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 367-68.

3. ISP's Directive to Destroy Drafts

As a result of Sloan's preliminary hearing, ISP issued an edict that *all* peer review reports should be destroyed. Specifically, on July 29, 2013, Maj. Hudgens sent an email to all District Captains directing them that "CRU members will not

keep draft copies of their [peer review] reports in the official case file. As is current practice within ISP, those reports should be destroyed." Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 78-79, 370-71; Pltf. Ex. 83. When Eller received this email, he was concerned because he knew from his training that everything created during an investigation is potentially discoverable under *Brady v. Maryland.* Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 372-76; Pltf. Ex. 156.

Eller approached two of his commanding officers (Lt. Doty and Cpt. Kelley) and expressed concerns that the directive could cause a *Brady* issue, leaving officers unable to turn over exculpatory evidence. Eller also stated that he thought "legal," (*i.e.* ISP's deputy attorney general) should be asked to render a decision regarding the legality of the directive. Both Lt. Doty and Cpt. Kelley ignored Eller's concerns and made it clear that he was to follow the directive and destroy peer review reports. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 373-76. Eller refused to follow the directive, yet he was notified that peer review reports had been destroyed in a number of fatal crash files. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 79-81, 376; Pltf. Ex. 135.

4. ISP's Ongoing Retaliation

Things only got worse for Eller after he questioned the legality of the directive to destroy documents. Specifically, thereafter:

• Lt. Doty told Eller that Command did not believe that he (Eller) supported the CRU and would be removed if he did not change. Cpt. Kelley informed Eller that he was purposely being left out of discussions regarding CRU

_

³ In *Brady*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 1197 (1963), the U.S. Supreme Court established that a prosecutor has a duty to disclose exculpatory evidence to the accused.

changes. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 383. Additionally, Lt. Doty told other employees that Eller was just a "disgruntled employee." Tr., pp. 813, 927; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 370, 439.

• In early 2014, Lt. Doty directed Rice to make various edits to Eller's 2013 evaluation, which diminished many of the complimentary statements about Eller. Rice was also directed to change Eller's "significant accomplishment" rating to a "valuable contributor" rating, the next level down. Tr., pp. 929-34; Pltf. Ex. 18.

Additionally, ISP made many retaliatory changes to the CRU that directly and negatively impacted Eller's job duties and benefits. For example:

- In October 2013, the CRU was "restructured" and Eller was placed back on patrol. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 72-74, 379-81; Pltf. Ex. 39. As a result, Eller (who had historically worked a regular day shift Monday through Friday since becoming a fulltime member of the CRU in 2004) was required to rotate through night and weekend shifts. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 381-82. Eller testified that these actions were a direct result of his protected activity and had a negative impact on his work and home life. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 381, 384-87, 405.
- In January 2014, Eller was informed in a group email that "ISP would no longer have a CRU in any District, therefore we will not have need of a supervisor." Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 75-77, 387; Pltf. Ex. 40. This email is how ISP notified Eller that he was relieved of his interim statewide CRU coordinator duties, which he had been performing for the prior nine months. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 387-88. After relieving Eller of these duties, Cpt. Kelley reassigned them to two other ISP reconstructionists. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 388-90.
- At around this same time, ISP interfered with Eller's reconstruction of a fatal school bus accident. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 409-13.
- Because of the string of negative actions directed at Eller and the CRU, and given his concerns about the directives to destroy draft reports and make changes to his own reconstruction reports, Eller felt compelled to step away from doing crash reconstruction work, effectively ending his

career in that field. Eller continues to struggle with this significantly difficult decision. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 413-17.

- In June 2014, ISP rejected Eller's application for a pay increase under ISP's Choice Point Program for instructors without explanation.⁴ When Eller filed a problem-solving request on the issue (which was also ultimately denied), he was told that he could no longer teach and that any training should be assigned to a different trooper. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 418-29. Eller testified that these denials of his pay increase and the restriction of his ability to continue to do trainings were related to his whistleblowing activities. Tr. 08.17.17, p. 429.
- In Spring 2016, Eller applied for a Sergeant promotion. Although his scores were above the required level, ISP halted Eller's scoring during the middle of the process, which effectively kept him from advancing to the next level of review. Thus, ISP never considered Eller as a candidate for the position, or any other Sergeant openings over the next six months. Tr.. pp. 778, 781-82, 785-90, 839-42, 1118-20; Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 434-36, 438-44, 457-58.

5. Eller's Emotional Distress

Eller and his wife, Kristi Eller, testified about the emotional impact the above events have had on Eller which included the following evidence: Eller was "very proud to be an Idaho state trooper," and he loved doing reconstruction work. Tr., pp. 949-50. His goal was to become the manager of the ISP crash reconstruction program. Tr., pp. 949-51. After the retaliation because of Eller's testimony at the Sloan hearing, "he shut down ... he lost the skill to communicate about the kids," 6 he was "grouchy" and all he wanted to do was watch TV. Tr., p. 956, L. 4-9. He

⁴ Eller had been instructing since 2007 and had been recognized as the "go-to" trainer on crash reconstructions. Thus, he was eligible for the Choice Point pay increase. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 418-20.

⁵ Tr., p. 948, L. 16; p. 949, L. 8-9.

⁶ Tr., p. 955, L. 2-12.

stopped interacting with the kids, stopped cooking for the kids, he lost 15 to 20 pounds, and quit working out. Tr., pp. 955-57.

When he was reassigned out of the CRU and back to regular patrol, he was "devastat[ed]: you have your whole career path, your whole direction you want to go, and all of the sudden it's gone. It's changed." Tr. 08.17.17, p. 386, L. 14-17. He had trouble sleeping, headaches, started getting sick more often and having skin issues. Tr. 08.17.17, pp. 415-16. His wife, Kristi testified that it was "heartbreaking" to watch him pushed out of reconstruction. Tr., p. 961, L.7-17.

6. Jury Trial Proceedings and Disposition

The jury trial began on August 14, 2017 and on August 29th, the Jury returned its Special Verdict in favor of Eller, finding ISP unlawfully retaliated against him in violation of the Whistleblower Act, and that ISP negligently inflicted severe emotional distress on Eller. R., pp. 1827-29.

During the case, Eller sought emotional distress damages pursuant to both the Whistleblower Act and for the negligent infliction of emotional distress (NIED). R., pp. 380-81. However, on August 24, 2017, after briefing and argument by both parties, the District Court ruled that, as a matter of law, the Jury was precluded from awarding Eller emotional distress damages under the Whistleblower Act. Tr., pp. 768-74. The District Court formalized this ruling in a written Memorandum Decision and Order entered on September 1, 2017. R., pp. 1830-36. Because of the

District Court's ruling, the Special Verdict form only permitted the Jury to award non-economic damages under Eller's NIED claim. R., pp. 1827-29.

After the Jury's verdict, ISP moved for a reduction of Eller's emotional distress damages pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-926. R., pp. 1838-46. ISP failed to reference its intent to rely on section 6-926 prior to this motion. section 6-926, part of the Idaho Tort Claims Act (ITCA), states in relevant part:

The combined, aggregate liability of a governmental entity and its employee for damages, costs and attorney's fees under this chapter. . . as the result of any **one (1) occurrence** or accident regardless of the number of persons injured or the number of claimants, shall not exceed and is limited to five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000).

I.C. § 6-926(1) (emphasis added).

After briefing and argument, the District Court interpreted "occurrences" under section 6-926 to equate to adverse actions in Whistleblower claims, and reduced the Jury's emotional distress verdict from \$1,500,000 to \$1,000,000, stating that "the Court can easily determine that the jury found at least two adverse actions." R., p. 1993 (emphasis added). The Court entered judgment on December 12, 2017, including the reduced emotional distress compensation and the Jury's verdict for economic damages of \$30,528.97 as a result of ISP's violations of the Whistleblower Act. R., p. 1997. On March 26, 2018, the Court entered an Amended Judgment, incorporating its decision awarding Eller attorneys' fees and costs. R., pp. 2069-70.

APPELLANT ELLER'S OPENING BRIEF - 13

Both ISP and Eller filed Notices of Appeal on January 23, 2018. R., pp. 1999-2011. The Appeals were consolidated for briefing and oral argument under Appeal No. 45698. See Order May 24, 2018.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

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