#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-2-2018

## Eller v. Idaho State Police Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45698

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

Turning first to the *Westfarm* decision, which is in no way binding on this Court, it should be noted that the court's decision in that instance was based in substantial part on Fed. R. Civ. P. **RESPONDENT IDAHO STATE POLICE'S BRIEF - 28** 

8(c), which it held "requires that the defendant include in its answer certain enumerated defenses and 'any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.'" See Westfarm, 846 F.Supp. at 439. However, the Westfarm Court ignored the plain language of then-Rule 8(d) (now Rule 8(b)(6)), which specifically carved defenses based upon the amount of damages to be awarded from those defenses which are waived if not raised. In addition, the cases relied upon by the Westfarm court addressed statutory schemes which are separate and distinct from the type of immunity afforded to governmental entities under the Idaho Tort Claims Act. Instead, the statutes at issue in those cases were analogous to the kind of tort reform limitations codified at Idaho Code, Section 6-1603. For example, the decisions in both *Ingraham* and *Simon* dealt with state statutes designed to limit the amount of damages which could be recovered exclusively in medical malpractice actions, and in both instances, the Fifth Circuit narrowly addressed those statutes within the context of Rule 8©, with no reference in either case to the language of Rule 8(b)(6). See Ingraham, 808 F.2d at 1078-79, Simon, 891 F.2d at 1156. In Jakobsen, the plaintiff's claims had been brought against the Massachusetts Port Authority, which the court found was "an entity with an existence apart from that of the Commonwealth," and the statute at issue in that matter "was meant to be an exclusive remedy" for injuries to commuters. See Jakobsen, 520 F.2d at 814-15.

Plaintiff has also cited to selected cases from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, as well as the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. However, in *Bentley v. Cleveland County Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 41 F.3d 600 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994), the court noted that there was controlling authority by which it was bound, holding that both qualified and absolute immunity **RESPONDENT IDAHO STATE POLICE'S BRIEF - 29** 

were affirmative defenses. There is no such controlling authority here, and as explained more fully above, the Ninth Circuit and the appellate courts in several of our adjoining states have all routinely held that the opposite is true. Plaintiff's reliance upon *Racher v. Westlake Nursing Home Limited Partnership*, 871 F.3d 1152 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017) is equally unavailing. The statute at issue there was a state-law damage cap analogous to Idaho Code, § 6-1603. As the *Racher* Court noted, where the state court has not directly addressed the issue, the presiding court must determine how the state legislature intended the law to be applied. Here, the Legislature's mandate clearly states that "in no case" shall the courts allow any judgment to stand which results in the limit of liability provided at Section 6-926 to be exceeded. Equally clear is the language of Rule 8(b)(6), which specifically excludes defenses as to the amount of damages from those which must be raised or be waived.

Finally, Plaintiff has cited to *Sanderson-Cruz v. United States*, 88 F.Supp.2d 388 (E.D. Pa. 2000) in support of his argument that Section 6-926 is an affirmative defense. *See* Appellant Eller's Opening Brief, pp. 37-38. As with the other federal decisions upon which he relies, however, the *Sanderson-Cruz* decision is inapposite. There, the statute at issue, the Pennsylvania Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Law, operated as a complete bar to relief, and was therefore deemed to constitute an affirmative defense. Here, the liability limitations imposed by the Legislature at Section 6-926 are not such a bar to relief, but rather operate solely to limit the liability which may be incurred by a governmental entity. As noted above, an affirmative defense is an "assertion raising new facts and arguments that, if true, will defeat the plaintiff's...claim." *See Fuhriman*, 143 Idaho at 803. Similarly, the limitation on liability now at issue falls within the "allegation...relating to the amount **RESPONDENT IDAHO STATE POLICE'S BRIEF - 30** 

of damages" which are expressly excluded from what the Rules define as an affirmative defense. As such, this Court should find, as have the Oregon and Nevada Courts cited above, that Defendant had "no duty to assert the damage limitation as an affirmative defense," and that the ISP's alleged "failure to assert the limitation before judgment was not a waiver" *See Clark County School Dist.*, 123 Nevada at 390; *Espinosa*, 624 P.2d at 167.

D. Application Of The Idaho Tort Claims Act's Damage Cap Does Not Require A Specific Finding Of Fact, Nor Should The District Court Be Required To Enter Specific Findings Of Fact Concerning The Number Of Alleged Occurrences.

Finally, Plaintiff argues that even if this Court determines that the liability limit under the ITCA is not an affirmative defense–and was therefore not waived by Defendant–that the matter should be remanded to the District Court for "findings of fact pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 49(a)(3)." *See* Appellant Eller's Opening Brief, p. 40. For the reasons discussed more fully below, his request for alternative relief should be rejected for several reasons. First, Plaintiff waived his right to a determination of issues not encompassed in the Special Verdict. Secondly, Plaintiff failed to raise this issue before the lower court, and this Court has unequivocally stated that it will not decide issues presented for the first time on appeal. Third, no additional findings of fact are needed from the District Court, because even if this Court determines that there was more than one "occurrence" for purposes of Section 6-926, Judge Baskin's December 12, 2017 Memorandum Decision and Order included her determination on that issue<sup>4</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In making this argument, Defendant does not concede that there was more than one occurrence, based upon the analysis in the preceding section.

## 1. Plaintiff Has Waived His Right To A Factual Determination On The Number Of Occurrences Which Formed The Basis For The Jury's Verdict.

As a preliminary matter, Plaintiff suggests that the District Court's December 12, 2017 Memorandum Decision and Order "attempted to avoid disturbing the Jury's findings," presumably "out of respect for Idaho's long recognition that a 'right of a trial by jury shall remain inviolate." *See* Appellant Eller's Opening Brief, p. 40. Plaintiff then argues that the District Court erred when it indicated that it was "not aware of any legal basis under which it had the authority to make [a specific finding on the number of *occurrences* the jury found] in order to construe the jury's verdict." *See id.*, p. 41; R., p. 647 (emphasis added). The "legal basis" for such a finding, according to Plaintiff, is set forth at Id. R. Civ. P. 49(a)(3). While it is true that Rule 49(a)(3) allows for such a factual determination by the trial court, that allowance is not without its procedural prerequisites. The Rule states as follows:

A party waives the right to a jury trial on any issue of fact raised by the pleadings or evidence but not submitted to the jury <u>unless</u>, <u>before the jury retires</u>, <u>the party demands its submission</u> to the jury. If the party does not demand submission, the court <u>may</u> make a finding on the issue. <u>If the court makes no finding</u>, it is <u>considered to have made a finding consistent with its judgment</u> on the special verdict.

#### Id. R. Civ. P. 49(a)(3) (2018) (emphasis added).

As the Rule itself clearly provides, a party's "right to a jury trial" on a particular issue of fact may be waived if the party fails to timely demand its submission. A similar issue was addressed long ago by this Court, when it noted that "a party must demand the submission of issues of fact to the jury which the court omits from the special verdict. If no such demand is made, the parties waive the

right to a jury determination of issues excluded from the special verdict." *Briscoe v. Nishitani*, 105 Idaho 175, 178, 667 P.2d 278, 281 (1983) (disavowed on other grounds at *Country Ins. Co. v. Agricultural Development, Inc.*, 107 Idaho 961, 695 P.2d 346 (1984)). Here, as in *Briscoe*, Plaintiff made no objection to the content of the special verdict form, particularly as it pertained to the special interrogatory on damages<sup>5</sup>. *See* R., p. 1413, Il. 1-9. As such, he waived his right to have the jury make factual determinations as to the number of occurrences. Further, although Plaintiff suggests that it was the failure of Defendant to assert the liability limit under Section 6-926 until after the verdict had been rendered that gave rise to this issue, as the District Court found, "nothing prevented Plaintiff from researching and discovering Idaho Code section 6-926 on his own initiative, particularly in light of its mandatory nature and the fact it is *part of the ITCA that Plaintiff brought his NIED claim under*. Thus, to the extent that Defendant's Motion has taken Plaintiff by surprise, Plaintiff shares some responsibility." R., p. 640 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff further appears to argue that it is incumbent upon the trial court to address "facts that are essential to a party's claim" whether the party demands submission of the issue or not. *See* Appellant Eller's Opening Brief, p. 42 (citing *Milligan v. Continental Life & Accident Co.*, 91 Idaho 191, 196-97, 418 P.2d 554, 559-560 (1966). While the *Milligan* Court indeed upheld the trial court's exercise of discretion in making findings not originally submitted to the jury, Plaintiff's reliance upon that case is misplaced. As indicated above, Rule 49(a)(3) *allows* a district court to make

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It should also be noted that the Special Verdict Form proposed by Plaintiff made no attempt to inquire whether there had been more than one "occurrence" giving rise to his claim for non-economic damages. *See* R, pp. 1714, 1716. **RESPONDENT IDAHO STATE POLICE'S BRIEF - 33** 

findings on issues not submitted to the jury, it does not require it. The Rule contains permissive language (i.e., "the court *may*"), but further provides that if no such finding is expressly made, the trial court is deemed to have made such a finding, which is reflected in its *judgment* on the special verdict. *See* Rule 49(a)(3) (emphasis added). The judgment ultimately entered here reflects that the District Court found no more than two "occurrences." Plaintiff's argument further assumes that Judge Baskin did not make a final determination as to the number of occurrences, but it should be noted that his argument in that regard is based upon comments by the District Court regarding the number of potential "adverse actions it found under the IPPEA," not the number of "occurrences". *See* R., p. 647, n. 5.

Plaintiff's failure to demand that the issue of how many occurrences gave rise to his claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress constitutes a clear waiver of his right to have the jury determine that issue. Further, Plaintiff should be charged equally with knowledge of the liability limits imposed under the ITCA—the very statute under which his emotional distress claim was brought. Thirdly, while the District Court was permitted to make specific factual determinations on issues which may not have been encompassed within the special verdict, it was not obligated to do so. Rather, by entering the Amended Judgment after the issue was fully briefed and argued by the parties, the Court is, according to Rule 49(a)(3), "considered to have made a finding consistent with its judgment." That judgment, in this case, reflects the District Court's determination "[b]ased upon the Special Verdict form...that the jury found two occurrences took place." *See* R., p. 648.

# 2. Plaintiff Failed To Raise The Issue Of Further Factual Findings With The District Court, And This Court Should Not Decide Issues Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

This Court has previously indicated that, as a general matter, it "will refrain from considering issues not raised on appeal." *See State, Dept. of Health and Welfare v. Housel*, 140 Idaho 96, 100, 90 P.3d 321, 325 (2004) (citing *Clark v. State, Dept. of Health & Welfare*, 134 Idaho 527, 529 n.1, 5 P.3d 988, 990 n. 1 (2000)). Similarly, it is well-settled in Idaho that "review on appeal is limited to those issues raised before the lower tribunal and that an appellate court will not decide issues presented for the first time on appeal." *Neighbors for a Healthy Gold Fork v. Valley County*, 145 Idaho 121, 131, 176 P.3d 126, 136 (2007) (citing *Balser v. Kootenai County Bd. of Comm'rs*, 110 Idaho 37, 40, 714 P.2d 6, 9 (1986)).

Here, not only did Plaintiff fail to raise the issue of whether he was entitled to a factual determination pursuant to Id. R. Civ. P. 49(a)(3) in his Notice of Appeal or his Amended Notice of Appeal, but he also failed to raise that issue with the District Court. No demand for a determination regarding the number of occurrences was made before the jury retired, and indeed Plaintiff's own proposed special verdict form sought no specific findings as to what actions of Defendant may have caused his alleged emotional distress. Defendant therefore objects to the untimely inclusion of the request for alternate relief contained in Appellant Eller's Opening Brief, on the grounds that it was not properly raised in either his initial or his Amended Notice of Appeal, nor was the issue raised below, and as such it should not be considered for the first time on appeal.

# 3. The December 12, 2017 Memorandum Decision And Order Of The District Court Included The Additional Findings Of Fact Plaintiff Now Seeks.

As indicated above, after the jury's verdict had been rendered, Defendant sought a reduction in accordance with I.C. § 6-926. There, Defendant argued that there had been but a single "occurrence" under the ITCA. Plaintiff was afforded the opportunity to respond, and he fully briefed and argued the issue. After careful consideration, the District Court entered its December 12, 2017 Memorandum Decision and Order on the parties' various post-trial motions, and ultimately concluded that the Special Verdict supported a finding that there had been two "occurrences," reduced the verdict accordingly and entered its Amended Judgment based upon the same. In short, the District Court has already done what Plaintiff now seeks in his alternative prayer—made its own factual determination as to what the evidence may have supported at trial.

#### E. Plaintiff Is Not Entitled To Costs Or Fees On Appeal.

Idaho Appellate Rule 40 states that costs "shall be allowed as a matter of course to the prevailing party unless otherwise provided by law or order of the Court." Defendant is unaware of any other provision of law that would forbid its recovery of costs should it prevail on appeal. Therefore, Defendant respectfully requests this Court award its costs as the prevailing party.

Furthermore, an award of attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-2107 is appropriate when an employee brings an action under the IPPEA with no basis in law or fact. IDAHO CODE, § 6-2107.

IV.
CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, in response to Plaintiff Eller's pending appeal, Defendant

ISP respectfully requests the following:

1. That this Court affirm the District Court's decision and hold that emotional distress

damages are not available under the Idaho Protection of Public Employees Act.

2. That this Court affirm the District Court's determination that Defendant ISP did not

waive the limitation on governmental entity liability set forth at Idaho Code, § 6-926,

and that a reduction of the jury's verdict was required under the statute.

3. That this Court deny Plaintiff's request for remand for additional factual

determinations under Rule 49(a)(3) on the grounds that Plaintiff has waived his right

to such relief.

4. That Defendant ISP be awarded its reasonable costs and attorney fees on appeal.